
 
CANADA 
PROVINCE OF QUÉBEC 
DISTRICT OF MONTRÉAL 

 
SUPERIOR COURT 

 

No.:  
 

ROBB EVANS & ASSOCIATES LLC, a legal 
person duly constituted according to the laws 
of California, having a place of 
business at 11450 Sheldon Street, Sun Valley, 
California, 91352; 

Plaintiff-Petitioner 
v. 

9896988 CANADA INC., a legal person duly 
constituted according to the laws of Canada, 
domiciled at 225-7075 Place Robert-Joncas, 
Saint-Laurent, Québec Canada H4M 2Z2; 

Defendant 

-and- 

TORONTO DOMINION BANK, a Bank 
established pursuant to the Bank Act, S.C. 
1991, c. 46, having branches at 245 Harwood 
Boulevard, Vaudreuil-Dorion, Québec J7V 
1Y3 and 51 Mont-Royal Avenue West, 
Montréal, Québec, H2T 2S5;  

Mise-en-Cause 

ORIGINATING APPLICATION FOR THE ISSUANCE OF A MAREVA INJUNCTION 
AND FOR AN INTERLOCUTORY AND PERMANENT INJUNCTION 

(Articles 141 and 509 et seq. Code of Civil Procedure) 
 

IN SUPPORT OF THE PRESENT ORIGINATING APPLICATION FOR THE 
ISSUANCE OF A MAREVA INJUNCTION AND FOR AN INTERLOCUTORY AND 
PERMANENT INJUNCTION (THE “APPLICATION”), PLAINTIFF, ROBB EVANS & 
ASSOCIATES LLC (HEREINAFTER, THE “RECEIVER”), RESPECTFULLY 
SUBMITS AS FOLLOWS: 
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I. INTRODUCTION 

1. Pursuant to this Application, the Receiver, who, as will be detailed below, was 
appointed as a temporary receiver in respect of 9896988 Canada Inc. (“989”), the 
hereafter defined “Texas Defendants” and the hereafter defined “Personal 
Defendants” pursuant to a Temporary Restraining Order (TRO) issued by Judge 
Kathleen Cardone of the United States District Court of Texas, Western District 
(the “Texas Court”) dated July 19, 2019 under Court file no. EP19CV0196 (the 
“TRO”), asks this Court to: 
 
a. Order the Mise-en-Cause, TORONTO DOMINION BANK (“TD”), 

immediately upon service of the judgment to intervene herein, to freeze 
the respective bank accounts described below held by 989 at TD 
(collectively, the “Bank Accounts”); 
 

b. Order the Mise-en-Cause not to disclose to 989 or to any third party 
(including, without limitation, the Texas Defendants and the Personal 
Defendants (collectively, the “Defendants”)), this Application or the 
judgment with respect to the Mareva injunction sought herein until the 
Bank Accounts have been frozen; 

 
c. Order 989 not to transfer, liquidate, convert, encumber, pledge, 

hypothecate, mortgage, loan, sell, conceal, dissipate, disburse, assign, 
transfer, relinquish, spend, withdraw, grant a lien or security interest or 
other interest in, or otherwise dispose of any assets, movable or 
immovable, real or personal, corporeal or incorporeal, tangible or 
intangible, wherever situated, including outside of the Province of Québec, 
whether held directly or indirectly through other persons (physical or legal) 
(each an “Asset” and, collectively, the “Assets”); 
 

d. Order 989, within 48 hours of service of the judgment to intervene herein, 
to send the undersigned attorneys for the Receiver, a Sworn Statement 
signed by its president, Mohammad Souheil (“Souheil”), before a 
Commissioner of Oaths (the “Sworn Statement”) setting out a list of: 
(1) its Assets; (2) the location of each of said Assets; (3) the value of each 
of said Assets; and (4) all documents evidencing 989’s ownership of said 
assets and the value thereof; and 

 
e. Authorize the undersigned attorneys for the Receiver to examine Souheil 

on the Sworn Statement by issuing a subpoena to Souheil, 
 

the whole for the reasons more fully set forth herein. 

2. As will be detailed herein, the Texas Defendants are alleged, through their 
unlawful conduct, to have obtained more than $7.5 million from consumers in the 
United States of America.  Such persons and parties are being sued by the 
Federal Trade Commission (the “FTC”) and the State of Ohio (the “State of 
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Ohio”) (the FTC and the State of Ohio are, collectively, the “Plaintiffs”) before 
the Texas Court in connection with said conduct. 

3. With respect to its request for the issuance of a Mareva injunction, as will be 
detailed herein, the Receiver respectfully submits that: 

a. It is urgent that the relief sought herein be granted; 

b. The Receiver has a prima facie right to the remedy sought; 

c. Serious and irreparable harm will be suffered if the Mareva injunction 
sought herein is not granted; and 

d. The balance of convenience favours the Receiver. 

II. THE PARTIES 

4. The Receiver is a limited liability corporation with offices in California and 
Nevada.  As appears from extracts from its website, www.robbevans.com, copies 
of which are attached hereto, en liasse, as Exhibit P-1: 

a. The Receiver has been appointed as equity receiver in a continuing flow 
of regulatory receiverships and, as a result, the Receiver has been put in 
control of assets and records in 34 U.S. states and in 19 foreign 
jurisdictions; 

 
b. The Receiver’s receivership duties have included taking control of, 

maintaining, and ultimately liquidating every type of real (immovable) 
property and many kinds of personal (movable) property; 

 
c. The Receiver has successfully prosecuted claw back actions and claims 

for improper transfers or distributions of cash and property; and  
 

d. The Receiver has been recognized or appointed as receiver or joint official 
liquidator in multiple foreign jurisdictions.  The Receiver has lodged and 
successfully prosecuted claims for funds and records in actions in the 
Caribbean, Eastern and Western Europe, and Asia. 

 
5. The Receiver has been repeatedly nominated by the FTC, the Commodity 

Futures Trading Commission, the Securities and Exchange Commission, and the 
United States Department of Justice.  The Receiver has also been nominated by 
the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau and California regulatory agencies. 

6. 989 is incorporated under the Canadian Business Corporations Act, having no 
employees indicated, and listing as a description of its main activity “autres 
services aux entreprises”, the whole as more fully appears from an extract of the 
Registraire des Entreprises report for 989, a copy of which is attached hereto as 
Exhibit P-2. 



- 4 - 
 

7. As appears from Exhibit P-2, Souheil is the sole shareholder of 989 and is listed 
as its sole director, president, secretary and treasurer. 

8. The Mise-en-Cause, TD, is a federally regulated charter bank under the Bank 
Act, SC 1991, c 46, having branches at 245 Harwood Avenue, Vaudreuil-Dorion, 
Québec and 51 Mont-Royal Avenue, Montreal, Québec where 989 holds the 
Bank Accounts; 

  
III. THE ACTION IN TEXAS AGAINST THE DEFENDANT AND OTHER PARTIES 

9. On or about July 18, 2019, the FTC and the State of Ohio filed, under seal, legal 
proceedings entitled “Complaint for Permanent Injunction and Other Equitable 
Relief” before the Texas Court against 989 and other parties named therein (the 
“Action”).  A copy of the Action is attached hereto as Exhibit P-3. 

10. As appears from the Action, the FTC is an independent agency of the United 
States Government created by statute. 

11. The FTC enforces: 

a. The Federal Trade Commission Act (the “FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 
which prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in affecting 
commerce; and 
 

b. FTC’s Telemarketing Sales Rule (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. Parts 310, 310.4(a)(9) 
which prohibit telemarketers from delivering unauthorized pre-recorded 
telephone messages (“Robocalls”) and from using remotely created 
payment orders (“RCPOs”). 

 
12. As appears from the Action, the State of Ohio is one of fifty sovereign states 

within the United States of America.  
 

13. The State of Ohio enforces:  
 
a. The Ohio Consumer Sales Practices Act, O.R.C. 1345.01 (the “CSPA”), 

which generally prohibits merchants from engaging in deceptive or unfair 
practices in connection with consumer transactions.  
 

b. The Telephone Solicitations Sales Act, O.R.C. (the “TSSA”), which 
requires merchants who solicit by telephone to comply with the telephone 
solicitation registry overseen by the Ohio Attorney General, prohibits such 
merchants from contacting consumers who have listed their numbers as 
do-not-call numbers within the registry, and requires merchants to disclose 
the true name and business to those merchants whom they solicit.  

 
14. As appears from the Action, the basis of the case against the parties therein, 

which includes 989, is as follows: 
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SUMMARY OF THE CASE 

 5. Since at least February 2016, Sam Madi, Mohammad Souheil 
(a/k/a Mohammed Souheil and Mike Souheil), Wissam Abedel 
Jilal (a/k/a Sam Jilal), Charles Kharouf, Educare Centre 
Services, Inc. (“Educare”), Tripletel, Inc. (“Tripletel”), and Prolink 
Vision, S.R.L. (“Prolink”) (collectively, “Defendants”) have 
engaged in a deceptive telemarketing scheme that markets a 
credit card interest rate reduction service (“CCIRR service”) to 
consumers throughout the United States. 

 
 6. Defendants cold-call consumers, using live calls and 

prerecorded messages (commonly known as a “robocalls”), 
promising that, in exchange for a fee ranging from $798 to 
$1,192, they will obtain substantially lower interest rates on 
consumers’ credit cards. To help lure consumers to purchase 
the CCIRR service, Defendants promise a 100% “moneyback 
guarantee” if Defendants fail to deliver the promised, 
substantially lower interest rate or the consumers are otherwise 
dissatisfied with the service. 

 
 7. Defendants’ promises are false or unsubstantiated. For the 

vast majority of consumers who pay their fee, if not all, 
Defendants do not secure the promised substantial rate 
reduction. In addition, Defendants routinely fail to honor their 
money-back guarantee. 

 
 8. Defendants collect their service fee from consumers through 

remotely created checks or remotely created payment orders 
(collectively “RCPOs”) drawn against consumers’ checking 
accounts. The TSR expressly prohibits such use of RCPOs in 
connection with telemarketing sales. 

 
15. As appears from the above, Educare Centre Services, Inc., Tripletel, Inc. and 

Prolink Vision, S.R.L. (“Prolink”) (collectively, the “Texas Defendants”) are 
named defendants to the Action as are Sam Madi, Souheil (a/k/a Mohammed 
Souheil and Mike Souheil), Wissam Abedel Jilal (a/k/a Sam Jilal) and Charles 
Kharouf (collectively, the “Personal Defendants”). 

16. Pursuant to the Action, the FTC and the State of Ohio sought temporary, 
preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief, rescission or reformation of 
contracts, restitution, the refund of monies paid, disgorgement of ill-gotten 
monies, and other equitable relief in connection with the Texas Defendants’ acts 
or practices in violation of the FTC Act, the TSR, the CSPA and the TSSA. 

17. With respect to 989 , the Action states as follows: 
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51. 9896988 Canada Inc. is a Canadian corporation with a registered 
address of 7075 Place Robert-Joncas, Suite 225, St. Laurent, Québec 
H4M 2Z2, Canada. 
 
52. 9896988 Canada Inc. has received funds in excess of $1 million that 
can be traced directly to Defendants’ unlawful acts or practices alleged in 
this Complaint, and it has no legitimate claim to those funds.  
 

[Bold in original] 
 
18. Souheil is a named defendant in the Action and is the president and sole 

shareholder of 989.  He is also the President of Prolink, another named 
defendant in the Action, which is a telemarketing company based in the 
Dominican Republic that has engaged in the unlawful conduct described in the 
Action.  

19. With respect to 989, Souheil and Prolink, the Action further states:  

40. At all times material to this Complaint, acting alone or in concert with 
others, Souheil has formulated, directed, controlled, had the authority to 
control, or participated in the acts and practices of Prolink and relief 
defendant 9896988 Canada Inc., including the acts or practices set forth in 
this Complaint. Souheil, in connection with the matters alleged herein, 
transacts or has transacted business in this district and throughout the 
United States. 

 
20. As will be detailed more fully herein below, the Action sets out detailed 

allegations, discovered by an FTC investigator, with respect to 989’s participation 
in alleged unlawful business activities. 

21. With respect to the injury sustained by consumers as a result of the conduct of 
989, the Texas Defendants, and the Personal Defendants (collectively, the 
“Defendants”) referred to therein and the need for immediate injunctive relief, the 
Action states as follows: 

CONSUMER INJURY 

Consumers are suffering, have suffered, and will continue to 
suffer substantial injury as a result of Defendants’ violations of 
the FTC Act, the TSR, the CSPA, and the TSSA. Defendants’ 
fraudulent telemarketing scheme has caused more than $11.5 
million to be withdrawn from consumers’ checking accounts. In 
addition, Defendants have been unjustly enriched as a result of 
their unlawful acts or practices. Absent injunctive relief by this 
Court, Defendants are likely to continue to injure consumers, 
reap unjust enrichment, and harm the public interest. 
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IV. THE APPLICATION FOR AN EMERGENCY, EX PARTE TEMPORARY 
RESTRAINING ORDER (TRO) 

22. In connection with the filing of the Action, the FTC and the State of Ohio filed, 
under seal, a motion and memorandum of law seeking an urgent, immediate, 
temporary restraining order (TRO) and a preliminary injunction with other 
equitable relief against the Defendants in order to halt their deceptive and 
fraudulent telemarketing scheme (the “TRO Motion”).  A copy of the Plaintiffs’ 
TRO Motion (without the exhibits attached thereto) is attached hereto as Exhibit 
P-4.  

23. In the TRO Motion, the Plaintiffs state as follows: 

VI. AN EX PARTE TRO WITH ADDITIONAL EQUITABLE 
RELIEF IS NECESSARY TO PRESERVE EFFECTIVE FINAL 
RELIEF  

In addition to an injunction halting Defendants’ illegal conduct, 
Plaintiffs seek restitution for the consumer victims of 
Defendants’ scheme. To preserve the possibility of such relief, 
an ex parte TRO is necessary to prevent Defendants from 
dissipating assets and destroying evidence. Plaintiffs 
respectfully request a TRO to: (a) immediately freeze 
Defendants’ and Relief Defendant’s assets; (b) appoint a 
temporary receiver over Corporate Defendants and Relief 
Defendant; and (c) grant Plaintiffs immediate access to 
Corporate Defendants’ business premises, business records, 
and other relevant information. If such relief is not provided or if 
Defendants and Relief Defendant are given advanced notice of 
this action, Defendants and Relief Defendant are likely to 
dissipate assets or destroy evidence. Indeed bank records 
show that Defendant Educare regularly makes offshore wire 
transfers of much of the ill-gotten assets to foreign bank 
accounts maintained by Prolink and 9896988 Canada. 

[Our emphasis.] 

24. In support of the Action, Plaintiffs filed a Second Declaration of John Isaacs 
Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1746, dated July 22, 2019, a consumer protection 
investigator with the Ohio Attorney General’s Office (the “Investigator’s 
Declaration”).  A copy of the Investigator’s Declaration is attached hereto as 
Exhibit P-5. 
 

V. THE TEMPORARY RESTRAINING ORDER GRANTED BY THE TEXAS 
COURT 

25. Further to the Action, the Texas Court issued the TRO and granted the ex parte 
emergency relief sought by the FTC and the State of Ohio, including: (1) a 
temporary restraining order with an asset freeze (see page 11 and following of 
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the TRO); (2) the appointment of the Receiver, as an agent of the Texas Court, 
as a temporary receiver of the corporate defendants (see pages 19 and following 
of the TRO); (3) authorizing immediate access to the business premises of the 
corporate defendants named therein (see page 23); and (4) expedited discovery 
(see page 30), among other equitable relief.  A certified copy of the TRO is 
attached hereto, with exhibits, en liasse, as Exhibit P-6. 

26. As referred to above, pursuant to the TRO, the Receiver was granted immediate 
access to such corporate defendants’ business premises and was permitted to 
take expedited discovery (see pages 23 and 30 of the TRO). 

27. As of the date hereof, the Defendants have not been served with the TRO, which 
remains under seal, given that the Plaintiffs and the Receiver are waiting for the 
judgment to intervene herein with respect to the Mareva injunction because there 
are serious concerns with respect to the potential transfer, liquidation, 
mortgaging, dissipation, assignment or transfer of assets by the Defendants if 
any of them is advised of the TRO prior to this Court issuing, on an ex parte 
basis, the Mareva injunction sought herein. 

28. With respect to the Defendants, in granting the TRO, the Texas Court made the 
following findings of fact: 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

The Court, having considered the Complaint, the ex parte 
Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order, declarations, 
exhibits, and the memorandum of points and authorities filed in 
support thereof, and being otherwise advised, finds that: 

A. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this 
case, and there is good cause to believe that it will have 
jurisdiction over all parties hereto and that venue in this District 
is proper. 

B.  Defendants are engaged in an unlawful telemarketing 
scheme that markets a credit card interest rate reduction service. 
They deliver unauthorized pre-recorded telephone messages 
(“robocalls”) to consumers in violation of the Telemarketing Sales 
Rule (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. Part 310. Defendants also violate the 
TSR by using remotely created payment orders or remotely 
created checks (“RCPOs”) as payment for goods or services 
they offer or sell to consumers through telemarketing. The TSR 
explicitly prohibits the use of RCPOs in any type of telemarketing 
transactions. 16 C.F.R. 310.4(a)(9) 
 
C.  Defendants’ telemarketing scheme has generated more 
than $7.5 million in RCPO payments from consumers since June 
13, 2016, the date when the TSR prohibition on the use of 
RCPOs in telemarketing transactions went into effect. 
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D.  As demonstrated by the declarations of consumers, 
hundreds of Better Business Bureau complaints, declarations of 
investigators from the FTC and the Ohio Attorney General’s 
Office, bank records, and other documentation filed by Plaintiffs, 
there is good cause to believe that Defendants have engaged in 
and are likely to engage in acts or practices that violate Section 
5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), the TSR, 16 C.F.R. Part 
310, the Ohio CSPA, R.C. 1345.01 et seq., and the Ohio TSSA, 
R.C. 4719.01 and that Plaintiffs are therefore likely to prevail on 
the merits of this action. 
 
E.  There is good cause to believe that immediate and 
irreparable harm will result from Defendants’ ongoing violations 
of the FTC Act, the TSR, and the Ohio CSPA and TSSA unless 
Defendants are restrained and enjoined by order of this Court. 
 
F.  There is good cause to believe that Relief Defendant 
9896988 Canada Inc. has received funds in excess of $1 million 
that can be traced directly to Defendants’ unlawful acts or 
practices alleged in the Complaint, and that it has no legitimate 
claim to those funds. 
 
G.  There is good cause to believe that immediate and 
irreparable damage to the Court’s ability to grant effective final 
relief for consumers – including monetary restitution, rescission, 
disgorgement or refunds – will occur from the sale, transfer, 
destruction or other disposition or concealment by Defendants of 
their assets or records, unless Defendants are immediately 
restrained and enjoined by order of this Court; and that, in 
accordance with Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(b) the interests of justice 
require that this Order be granted without prior notice to 
Defendants. Thus, there is good cause for relieving Plaintiffs of 
the duty to provide Defendants with prior notice of its Application 
for a Temporary Restraining Order. 
 
H.  Good cause exists for appointing a temporary receiver 
over the Receivership Entities, freezing Defendants’ and Relief 
Defendant’s assets, permitting the Receiver immediate access to 
Defendants’ and the Relief Defendant’s business premises to 
obtain and take control of Defendants’ and the Relief 
Defendant’s business records wherever the records are stored, 
and permitting the Plaintiffs and the Receiver to take expedited 
discovery. 
 
I.  Weighing the equities and considering Plaintiffs’ likelihood 
of ultimate success on the merits, a temporary restraining order 
with an asset freeze, the appointment of a temporary receiver, 
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immediate access to Defendants’ business premises and 
records, expedited discovery, and other equitable relief is in the 
public interest. 
 

VI. 989’S BANK ACCOUNTS 

29. In the context of the Action, the Ohio Attorney General’s Office obtained banking 
records of Educare Centre Services and 989, as well as a third party, Madera 
Merchant Services LLC, which indicated that 989 has Bank Accounts in Québec 
and that such accounts were used in connection with the alleged unlawful 
activities referred to herein.  More specifically, such accounts are: 

a. Account number 448121-5002711 in the name of 9896988 Canada inc. at 
the TD branch located at 245 Harwood Boulevard, Vaudreuil-Dorion, 
Quebec J7V1Y3; 

 
b. Account number 47261-47267200963 in the name of 9896988 Canada 

inc. at the TD branch located at 51 Mont-Royal Avenue West, Montreal, 
QC H2T 2S5 

 
30. A printout of various transactions in the foregoing bank accounts appears en 

liasse in Exhibit P-5. 

VII. THE NEED FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

A. Urgency 

31. As appears from the allegations above, 989 has Bank Accounts in Québec and 
has received funds in such accounts in connection with the alleged unlawful 
activities referred to herein. 

32. Given that 989 is domiciled in Québec and that Souheil resides in Québec, 989 
may also have other assets in Québec. 

33. The relief sought by the Receiver is urgent and time is of the essence. 

34. The TRO obtained by the FTC and the State of Ohio in the United States has not 
yet been served on any of the Defendants, including 989 and Souheil, and, 
accordingly, to the Receiver’s knowledge, the Defendants are not aware of the 
Action or the TRO. 

35. Given the conduct of the Defendants referred to herein and the TRO, the 
Receiver has serious concerns that in the absence of a Mareva injunction issued 
by this Court ordering the Mise-en-Cause to freeze the Bank Accounts and 989 
not to transfer, liquidate, mortgage, dissipate, assign or transfer its Assets, the 
Defendants, including 989, may take steps to do so and this would seriously and 
negatively impact the TRO and the ultimate recovery for aggrieved consumers in 
the context of the FTC’s Action. 
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36. For the reasons, this Application and the Mareva Injunction sought herein is filed 
under seal and is presented ex parte.  

37. The Receiver has acted expeditiously since having been appointed pursuant to 
the TRO rendered on July 19, 2019 by the Texas Court. 

B. The Receiver’s Prima Facie Right to the Remedy Sought 

38. As appears from the various proceedings referred to herein, the Defendants have 
been the object of an undercover investigation by the FTC that has yielded ample 
evidence of a widespread, international fraud that is ongoing. 

39. The FTC did not make the Defendants aware of its undercover investigation into 
their business practices related to the unlawful telemarketing of fraudulent credit 
card interest rate reduction schemes. 

40. Given their conduct referred to herein, 989 has ample opportunity and motivation 
to easily conceal and dissipate its assets given that, without limitation: 

a. The Defendants allegedly operate a pervasive fraudulent enterprise 
dependent on misrepresentations; 

 
b. The FTC and the State of Ohio are seeking, in the Action, monetary relief 

in the form of compensation to consumers; 
 

c. 989’s assets can be transferred, hidden, encumbered, or dissipated to 
avoid recovery; and 

 
d. 989, along with the other Defendants allegedly share in the proceeds 

derived from the scheme.  
 
41. As referred to above, on the basis of the Action and the TRO Motion, which was 

supported by an affidavit, the Texas Court granted the TRO sought by the FTC 
and the State of Ohio, and the Receiver was appointed as agent of the Texas 
Court in respect of the Defendants. 

42. Pursuant to the TRO, the Receiver’s rights are clearly set out and such rights 
include: (1) assuming full control over 989’s business and “tak[ing] exclusive 
custody, control and possession of all assets and Documents of, or in the 
possession, custody, or under the control of [989], wherever situated”; and (2) 
“conserve, hold, manage, and prevent the loss of all assets of [989], and perform 
all acts necessary or advisable to preserve the value of those assets” (see pp. 
19-20 of the TRO). 

43. In addition, pursuant to the TRO, 989 and its representatives were ordered to 
fully cooperate with and assist the Receiver “in taking and maintaining 
possession, custody or control of [989’s] assets” (see p. 25 of the TRO). 
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44. The relief sought herein with respect to 989 is fully consistent with the TRO and 
the role of the Receiver, as an agent of the Texas Court, pursuant to such TRO. 

C. The Irreparable Prejudice 

45. As referred to above, the Texas Court accepted, for purposes of issuing the 
TRO, that the FTC and the State of Ohio are likely to prevail on the merits of their 
action against the Defendants, which includes 989 herein, and that such 
defendants will be liable for the injury suffered by consumers resulting from their 
alleged unlawful conduct. 

46. In the absence of a Mareva injunction issued by this Court, the Receiver has 
serious grounds to believe that there will be immediate and irreparable damage 
to the Receiver’s ability to have the Bank Accounts frozen and thus, potentially to 
the FTC’s and the State of Ohio’s ability to obtain relief and full compensation for 
consumers who were injured as a result of the conduct of the Defendants. 

D. The Balance of Convenience Favours the Receiver 

47. Given the Receiver’s right to the relief sought herein and the serious and 
irreparable prejudice that will be suffered if the Mareva injunction sought herein is 
not granted, the Receiver respectfully submits that the balance of convenience 
need not be considered. The foregoing having been said, to the extent that the 
balance of convenience is to be considered, it clearly favours the Receiver. 

48. Pursuant to the TRO, 989 is already the object of a temporary restraining order 
and has been temporarily restrained and enjoined from transferring, liquidating, 
converting, encumbering, pledging, loaning, selling, concealing, dissipating, 
disbursing, assigning, relinquishing, spending, withdrawing, granting a lien or 
security interest or other interest in, or otherwise disposing of any assets, 
wherever located, including outside the United States.   
 

49. In addition, pursuant to the TRO, 989 has already been ordered to cooperate 
with and assist the Receiver. 
 

50. Accordingly, 989 will not suffer any prejudice if the orders sought herein are 
granted. 

51. Conversely, if the orders sought herein are not granted, given 989’s alleged 
conduct referred to herein and that 989 is domiciled in Québec, the Receiver has 
serious concerns that 989 will not comply with the TRO in connection with the 
Bank Accounts, or with respect to other assets that may be owned by 989 and 
which are located in Québec or elsewhere in Canada. 

52. The Receiver asks that it be exempted from the obligation of posting security. 

53. For all of the foregoing reasons, the Receiver respectfully submits that it is 
entitled to the issuance of a Mareva injunction and an interlocutory and 
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permanent injunction, the latter which shall remain in force pending a final 
judgment with respect to the Action. 

54. The present Application is well-founded in fact and in law. 

FOR THESE REASONS, MAY IT PLEASE THE COURT TO: 

AT THE PROVISIONAL STAGE: 

A. GRANT the present Mareva Injunction to remain in effect until 11:59 pm 
on August 3, 2019, subject to any renewals thereof Plaintiff-Petitioner may 
obtain from this Court; 

B. ORDER that the Application and any Judgment to intervene herein be 
kept under seal until the Defendant-Respondent,989866 Canada Inc. 
(“989”), and the Mise-en-Cause, Toronto Dominion Bank, have each been 
served with a copy of the Mareva injunction to intervene herein and proof 
of said service has been filed with the Court; 

C. ORDER the Toronto Dominion Bank located at 245 Harwood Boulevard, 
Vaudreuil-Dorion, Québec J7V 1Y3 and 51 Mont-Royal Avenue West, 
Montréal, Québec, H2T 2S5, immediately upon service of this judgment, 
to freeze bank accounts numbered 448121-5002711 and 47261-
47267200963 held in the name of 989; 

(the bank accounts referred to in conclusion C above are referred to 
collectively as the “Bank Accounts”); 

D. ORDER the Mise-en-Cause not to disclose to 989, or to any other third 
party (including, without limitation, Educare Centre Services, Inc., Tripletel, 
Inc., Prolink Vision, S.R.L., Sam Madi, Mohammad Souheil (a/k/a 
Mohammed Souheil and Mike Souheil), Wissam Abedel Jilal (a/k/a Sam 
Jilal) and Charles Kharouf) the Application or the judgment with respect to 
the Mareva injunction sought herein until all of the Bank Accounts have 
been frozen; 

E. ORDER 989 not to transfer, liquidate, convert, encumber, pledge, 
hypothecate, mortgage, loan, sell, conceal, dissipate, disburse, assign, 
transfer, relinquish, spend, withdraw, grant a lien or security interest or 
other interest in, or otherwise dispose of any assets, movable or 
immovable, real or personal, corporeal or incorporeal, tangible or 
intangible, wherever situated, including outside of the Province of Québec, 
whether held directly or indirectly through other persons (physical or legal) 
(each an “Asset” and, collectively, the “Assets”); 

F. ORDER 989, within 48 hours of service of this judgment, to send the 
undersigned attorneys for Plaintiff, a Sworn Statement signed by 989’s 
director and officer, Mohammad Souheil, before a Commissioner of Oaths 
(the “Sworn Statement”) setting out a list of: (1) its Assets; (2) the 
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location of each of said Assets; (3) the value of each of said Assets; and 
(4) all documents evidencing 989’s ownership of said assets and the value 
thereof; 

G. AUTHORIZE the undersigned attorneys for Plaintiff to examine 
Mohammad Souheil on the Sworn Statement by issuing to a subpoena to 
Mohammad Souheil; 

H. DISPENSE Plaintiff from providing security for costs in connection with the 
foregoing Mareva injunction; 

I. ALLOW the service of the judgment of this Court issuing the provisional 
injunction outside legal service hours and non-judicial days, including by 
email or facsimile; 

J. RENDER any other order that this Court may deem appropriate under the 
circumstances; 

K. ORDER provisional execution of the judgment of this Court issuing the 
provisional injunction, notwithstanding appeal; 

AT THE INTERLOCUTORY AND PERMANENT STAGES:  

A. GRANT the present Application; 

B. ISSUE an interlocutory and permanent injunction granting the relief sought 
in conclusions C. and E. above at the Mareva injunction stage, to remain 
in effect, at the permanent injunction stage, pending a final judgment with 
respect to the Federal Trade Commission and the State of Ohio’s action in 
Court file Civ. No. EP19CV0196 before the United States District of Texas, 
Western District; 

C. ORDER provisional execution of the judgment of this Court issuing the 
interlocutory or permanent injunction, notwithstanding appeal; 

D. RENDER any other order that this Court may deem appropriate under the 
circumstances. 

 THE WHOLE with costs. 

 Montréal, July 23, 2019 
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 KUGLER KANDESTIN LLP 
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Petitioner 
 
Me Jean-François Carpentier / Me William 
Colish 
1 Place Ville Marie, Suite 1170 
Montréal, Québec  H3B 2A7 
Tel.: 514 878-2861 
Fax: 514 875-8424 
jfcarpentier@kklex.com 
wcolish@kklex.com 
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CANADA 
PROVINCE OF QUÉBEC 
DISTRICT OF MONTRÉAL 

 
SUPERIOR COURT 

 

No.:  ROBB EVANS & ASSOCIATES LLC; 
Plaintiff-Petitioner 

v. 

9896988 CANADA INC  

Defendant 

and 

TORONTO DOMINION BANK 

Mise-en-Cause 

LIST OF EXHIBITS IN SUPPORT OF THE APPLICATION FOR THE ISSUANCE OF A 
MAREVA INJUNCTION AND FOR AN INTERLOCUTORY AND PERMANENT 

INJUNCTION 

 
EXHIBIT P-1: 
(en liasse) 

Extracts from website, www.robbevans.com; 

EXHIBIT P-2: CIDREQ Registraire des Entreprises Report for 9896988 Canada 
Inc.; 

EXHIBIT P-3: Complaint for Permanent Injunction and Other Equitable Relief, 
dated ; 

EXHIBIT P-4: Plaintiffs’ Memorandum Of Law In Support Of Motion For A 
Temporary Restraining Order And Other Equitable Relief; 

EXHIBIT P-5: Second Declaration of John Isaacs Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1746, 
dated July 22, 2019 

EXHIBIT P-6: 
 

TRO issued by United States District Court of Texas, Western 
Division, dated July 19, 2019; 
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 Montréal, July 22, 2019 
 

 KUGLER KANDESTIN LLP 
Attorneys for Plaintiff-Petitioner 
 
Me Jean-François Carpentier / Me William 
Colish 
1 Place Ville Marie, Suite 1170 
Montréal, Québec  H3B 2A7 
Tel.: 514 878-2861 / Fax: 514 875-8424 
jfcarpentier@kklex.com /  
wcolish@kklex.com 
Our File:  6329-001 
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